Local Government Act 1972
I Hereby Give You Notice that an Ordinary Meeting of the Durham County
Council will be held in the Council Chamber - County Hall, Durham on
Wednesday 20 June 2018 at 10.00 am. to transact the following business:1.

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 May 2018
(Pages 3 - 12)

2.

To receive any declarations of interest from Members

3.

Chairman's Announcements

4.

Leader's Report

5.

Questions from Area Action Partnerships

6.

Questions from the Public

7.

Petitions

8.

Report from the Cabinet (Pages 13 - 26)

9.

Appointment of a Director of Integrated Community Services Report of Corporate Director of Adults and Health Services
(Pages 27 - 38)

10.

Motions on Notice
Councillor L Brown to Move
This council notes that the Control of Pollution Act 1974
empowers local authorities to serve a notice imposing
requirements as to how construction works should be carried out
to minimise noise and nuisance.
This council further notes that the majority of councils across the
UK impose the following limits on working hours on building
sites:





Monday-Friday, 8am-6pm
Saturdays, 8am-1pm
No work on Sundays or bank holidays.

This council therefore resolves (without prejudice to its capacity
vary such conditions as and when advisable) to formalise the
standard condition on hours of working to be applied to planning
consents across County Durham as follows:




11.

Monday-Friday, 8am-6pm
Saturdays, 8am-1pm
No work on Sundays or bank holidays.

Questions from Members

And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby Summon You
to attend the said meeting
Dated this 12th day of June 2018

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
To:

All Members of the County Council

Agenda Item 1

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
At the Annual Meeting of the County Council held in the Council Chamber - County Hall,
Durham on Wednesday 23 May 2018 at 10.00 am.
Present:
Councillor B Kellett (Chairman)
Councillors E Adam, J Allen, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, B Avery, A Bainbridge,
B Bainbridge, A Batey, A Bell, R Bell, H Bennett, J Blakey, L Boyd, D Boyes, P Brookes,
D Brown, J Brown, L Brown, C Carr, J Carr, J Chaplow, J Clare, J Clark, M Clarke,
I Cochrane, K Corrigan, P Crathorne, R Crute, G Darkes, M Davinson, S Dunn,
S Durham, D Freeman, A Gardner, J Grant, N Grayson, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson,
K Hawley, T Henderson, S Henig, A Hopgood, K Hopper, L Hovvels, P Howell, S Hugill,
E Huntington, S Iveson, I Jewell, O Johnson, P Jopling, C Kay, L Kennedy, A Laing,
J Lethbridge (Vice-Chairman), K Liddell, H Liddle, L Maddison, J Makepeace,
R Manchester, C Marshall, L Marshall, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, M McGaun,
M McKeon, I McLean, O Milburn, S Morrison, A Napier, H Nicholson, J Nicholson,
R Ormerod, A Patterson, C Potts, L Pounder, S Quinn, A Reed, J Robinson,
J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons,
A Simpson, H Smith, T Smith, J Stephenson, B Stephens, D Stoker, A Surtees, P Taylor,
O Temple, K Thompson, F Tinsley, T Tucker, J Turnbull, A Watson, A Willis, C Wilson,
M Wilson, S Wilson, D Wood and S Zair
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Bell, E Bell, J Bell, G Bleasdale,
J Charlton, D Hicks, J Maitland, S McDonnell, P Oliver, G Richardson, S Robinson,
A Savory and L Taylor
Prior to the commencement of the meeting the Chairman reported with great
sadness the death of former Durham City Councillor and Alderman George
‘Geordie’ Marsden who had represented the Cassop-cum-Quarrington Ward on the
former City Council from 1987 to 2009.
The Council stood for a moments silence as a mark of respect.
1

Election of Chairman
Moved by Councillor C Kay, Seconded by Councillor J Robinson and
Resolved:
That Councillor J Lethbridge be elected to the Office of Chairman of the Council for
the ensuing year.
Councillor J Lethbridge subscribed the Statutory Declaration accepting the Office.
Councillor B Kellett vacated the Chair.
Councillor J Lethbridge in the Chair

Page 3

In accepting the Office of Chairman of the Council the Chairman informed Council
that it would be an honour and privilege to carry out such a role.
The Chairman informed Council that the charity he would be supporting during his
Term of Office was the Royal British Legion.
2

Presentation to Retiring Chairman
The Chairman paid tribute to the services of Councillor Kellett during his term of
office and presented a Past Chairman’s Medal to Councillor Kellett incorporating
the Council’s Coat of Arms as a token of the Council’s appreciation of his services
during his period of office. The Chairman also paid tribute to Councillor Kellett’s
consort, Councillor Chaplow, who had been a great support to Councillor Kellett
during his period of office.
Further tributes to Councillor Kellett’s ambassadorial service, the diligent,
exceptional, professional and dignified way he had conducted himself during his
term of office both locally, regionally, nationally and internationally were given by
Councillor Henig (Leader of the Labour Group), Councillor Hopgood (Leader of the
Liberal Democrat Group), Councillor Shield (Leader of the Durham Independent
Group), Councillor R Bell (Leader of the Conservative Group), Councillor
Shuttleworth (Leader of the Durham County Council Independent Group),
Councillor Maddison (Leader of the Spennymoor Independent Group) and
Councillor Hawley (Leader of the North East Group).
In response, Councillor Kellett thanked both the incoming Chairman and all
Councillors for the presentation and expressed his appreciation to all who had
supported and assisted him during the year and thanked Councillor Lethbridge for
his support as Vice-Chairman throughout the year.
Councillor Kellett offered his congratulations to Councillor Lethbridge and his
consort and wished him well for his year in office. Finally, Councillor Kellett thanked
his consort, Councillor Chaplow, for her unwavering support throughout the year.
The Chairman then presented Councillor Chaplow with a gift in appreciation of her
efforts in supporting Councillor Kellett during his term of office.
Councillor Kellett informed Council that, to date, £16,000 had been raised for his
chosen charity, the Great North Air Ambulance, during his term of office.

3

Election of Vice-Chairman
Moved by Councillor R Crute, Seconded by Councillor A Laing and
Resolved:
That Councillor K Corrigan be elected Vice-Chairman of the Council for the ensuing
year.
Councillor Corrigan subscribed the Statutory Declaration accepting the Office.

Page 4

4

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 18 April 2018 were confirmed by the Council as
a correct record and signed by the Chairman, subject to Councillor Reed’s
apologies for absence being noted.

5

Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any item of business on the
agenda.

6

Chairman's Announcements
Photographs during proceedings
The Chairman informed Members that photographs would be taken during the
course of the meeting and that the traditional Council photograph would be taken at
the end of the meeting.
Code of Conduct
The Chairman reminded all Members of their obligations under the Code of
Conduct and asked that all Members address each other in the correct manner
during meetings and show respect at all times.
Register of Interests Forms
The Chairman reminded all Members of the need to review and update Register of
Interests form, on the basis that appointments to Joint and Other Bodies were
agreed at the meeting.
Processing following conclusion of Council Meeting
The Chairman requested that at the conclusion of all meetings all councillors should
remain in the Chamber to allow himself and the officials on the dais to leave the
Chamber. Members were then free to leave.

7

Annual Review of the Constitution
The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services
which presented proposals for the revision of the Council’s Constitution (for copy
see file of Minutes).
In moving approval of the revision to the Constitution Councillor Henig informed
Council that the proposed amendments had been considered by the Constitution
Working Group.
Seconded by Councillor Hopgood.

Page 5

Councillor Shuttleworth informed the Council that he had objected to the abolition of
the Human Resources Committee when the proposed revisions were considered by
the Constitution Working Group.
Resolved:
That the proposed revisions to the Constitution be approved.
8

Request for Dispensation
The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services
which sought approval to grant a dispensation under section 85(1) of the Local
Government Act 1972, Vacation of office by failure to attend meetings (for copy see
file of Minutes).
Moved by Councillor Hawley, Seconded by Councillor Liddell and
Resolved:
That Councillor McDonnell’s request for a dispensation under section 85(1) of the
Local Government Act 1972 be approved.

9

Leaders Announcement of Deputy Leader and Cabinet Members
Councillor Henig announced that there were no changes proposed to Cabinet
Members or Portfolios for the forthcoming year.
However, there was an amendment to Cabinet Support Members as follows:
Councillor J Clare as Cabinet Support Member to Councillor C Marshall
Councillor T Tucker as Cabinet Support Member to Councillor K Shaw
Councillor M Davinson as Cabinet Support Member to Councillor J Allen
Councillor Henig welcomed these new Members into their Cabinet Support roles.
Leader of the Council
Cllr Simon Henig

Deputy Leader and Finance
Cllr Alan Napier
Cllr Lyn Boyd
Adult and Health Services
Cllr Lucy Hovvels
Cllr Audrey Laing

Page 6

● Overall co-ordination of policy, including MTFP
● Council strategy
● Performance framework and monitoring
● County Durham Partnership
● External Partnerships
● Communications
● Legal and Democratic Services+
● Finance
● Legal and Democratic Services+
● Risk Management
● Adult Social Care Services
● Adult Safeguarding
● Adult Social Care Commissioning
● Health and Wellbeing

● Public Health
● Community Safety
● Links with Durham Police
● Veterans champion
● Mental Health champion
Children and Young People’s
Services
Cllr Olwyn Gunn
Cllr Maura McKeon

Economic Regeneration
Cllr Carl Marshall
Cllr John Clare

Neighbourhoods and local
partnerships
Cllr Brian Stephens
Cllr Rob Yorke

Social Inclusion and HR
Cllr Jane Brown
Cllr Angela Surtees

Strategic Housing and Assets
Cllr Kevin Shaw
Cllr Tanya Tucker

● Education 0-19
● Specialist and Safeguarding Children’s
Services
● Youth Services, including Youth Offending
Services
● Children’s Centres
● Adult learning
● Health and wellbeing board member
● Economic Development
● Town Centres
● Regeneration
● Skills agenda
● Spatial Planning / County Durham Plan
● Strategic Transport / Local Transport Plan
● Development Control
● Area Action Partnerships
● Relationships with Town and Parish Councils
● Community Development
● Community Facilities
● Neighbourhood Streetscene
● Environment Policy, including sustainability &
climate change
● Environment, Health and Consumer Protection
● Highways
● Waste Management
● Direct Services
● Bereavement services
● Carers
● Human Resources
● Welfare reform and impact
● Welfare rights
 Equality and Diversity
● Housing strategy
● Homelessness
● Private sector housing issues
● Fuel poverty / Energy efficiency
● Links with Housing providers
● Assets (land and property)
● Travellers liaison service

Page 7

Tourism, Culture, Leisure and Rural
Issues
Cllr Ossie Johnson
Cllr Tracie Smith
Transformation
Cllr Joy Allen
Cllr Mark Davinson

10

● Tourism, Arts and Culture
● Events
● Leisure services
● Parks
● Allotments
● Rural champion
● Council transformation programme
● ICT
● Customer Services
● Libraries
● Emergency planning
● Humanitarian Support Partnership

Appointments of Council Bodies and allocation of seats to Political Groups
under Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989
The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services
regarding the appointment of Council Bodies and Allocation of Seats to Political
Groups under Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989
(for copy see file of Minutes).
Moved by Councillor A Laing, Seconded by Councillor J Robinson and
Resolved:
That the recommendations contained in the report be agreed.

11

Appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen
Moved by Councillor Laing, Seconded by Councillor Robinson that the circulated
list of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees and Sub-Committees be
approved.
An amendment to the list of Vice-Chairs for Scrutiny Committees was Moved by
Councillor Hopgood and Seconded by Councillor Maddison as follows:
Economy and Enterprise – Councillor Paul Howell
Children and Young People – Councillor Mamie Simmons
Safer and Stronger Communities- Councillor Joan Nicholson
Environment and Sustainable Communities- Councillor Alan Gardner
Adults, Wellbeing and Health – Councillor Owen Temple
Upon a vote being taken the amendment was lost.
Upon a further vote being taken the circulated list of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen
of Committees and Sub-Committees was approved.

Page 8

Non-Executive/Regulatory Committees

Chairman

Vice-Chairman

Appeals and Complaints Committee

Councillor J Bell

Councillor D Wood

Audit Committee

Councillor E Bell

*Councillor J Rowlandson

Chief Officer Appointments Committee

Councillor S Henig

Councillor A Napier

Highways Committee

Councillor C Kay

Councillor S Morrison

General Licensing and Registration Committee

Councillor C Carr

Councillor J Maitland

Statutory Licensing Committee

Councillor C Carr

Councillor L Marshall
Councillor P Crathorne

General Licensing and Registration SubCommittee’s
Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee

Councillor L Marshall (1)
Councillor C Carr (2)
Councillor P Crathorne (3)
Councillor L Marshall (1)
Councillor C Carr (2)
Councillor P Crathorne (3)

Standards Committee

Councillor B Kellett

Councillor E Huntington

County Planning Committee

Councillor J Robinson

Councillor F Tinsley

Area Planning Committee (North)

Councillor I Jewell

Councillor S Wilson

Area Planning Committee (Central and East)

Councillor P Taylor

Councillor A Laing

Area Planning Committee (South and West)

Councillor H Nicholson

Councillor J Clare

Pension Fund Committee

Councillor M Davinson

*Councillor O Temple

Corporate Parenting Panel

Councillor P Brookes

Councillor H Smith

Councillor R Crute

Councillor A Patterson

Councillor C Potts

Councillor H Smith

Councillor D Boyes

Councillor H Liddle

Councillor E Adam

Councillor O Milburn

Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Committee

Councillor A Batey

Councillor M Clarke

Adults, Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny
Committee

Councillor J Robinson

Councillor J Chaplow

Overview and Scrutiny Committees
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny
Management Board
Children and Young People’s Scrutiny
Committee
Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny
Committee
Environment and Sustainable Communities
Scrutiny Committee

12

Appointments to Joint and Other Bodies 2018/2019
The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services
detailing appointments to joint and other bodies for 2018/19 (for copy see file of
Minutes).
Moved by Councillor Henig, Seconded by Councillor Napier and

Page 9

Resolved:
(a)

That the Council agrees the allocation of seats on the joint body
detailed in Appendix 2.

(b)

That the Council agrees the allocation of the memberships of the
bodies detailed in Appendix 3 for 2018/19, and agrees that with the
revised number of groups on the Council, the number of seats on the
County Durham Development Company be increased from 15 to 16 to
include representation by each of the group leaders on the Council.

(c)

That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, in consultation with
the appropriate Group Leader(s),be authorised to make appointments
to the other outside bodies to which the Council are invited to
nominate, in accordance with the following criteria:(i)

identify those organisations whose purpose is aligned to a
specific Cabinet Portfolio, and nominate Members accordingly.

(ii)

identify local outside bodies from each electoral division and
allocate those to local members. If there are more seats on an
outside body than local members then the political balance
would be applied. For those local bodies which are strategic in
nature representation by a specific Cabinet Portfolio would be
appropriate.
If a consensus on the allocation of seats to Members within the
electoral division could not be reached, should the division be
represented by Members from different parties and agreement
could not be reached, the party with the largest proportion of
seats on the Council would be allocated the seat.

(iii)

Page 10

the bodies which are not local to a particular electoral division,
for example, those with a County or Regional remit,
appointments be made in accordance with the overall political
proportionality of the Council, except in the case of Housing
Associations and bodies providing services in one particular
locality, in such circumstances the membership would be from
that locality. This does not include appointments to the County
Durham Housing Group Board, or its Operations Committee.

(d)

That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised, in
consultation with the appropriate Group Leader(s), to make any
changes to memberships of the main outside bodies/joint bodies
approved by Council, which may become necessary during the course
of 2018/19.

(e)

That the allocation of seats on the Chartered Trust as detailed in
Appendix 4 be agreed. That Councillor C Marshall be appointed as
the Cabinet Member to serve on the Trust.

(f)

That the allocation of seats on the Police and Crime Panel as detailed
in Appendix 5 be agreed.

(g)

That Councillor E Bell be appointed to serve on the Joint Audit
Committee to assist the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief
Constable, noting the nomination would be subject to approval of the
Police, Crime and Victim’s Commissioner.

Moved by Councillor A Laing, Seconded by Councillor J Robinson and
Resolved:
Appointments be made to the positions on the North East Combined Authority as
follows:
a)
The Council Representative of the North East Leadership Board
(NELB) – Councillor S Henig;
b)

Substitute member of the NELB – Councillor A Napier;

c)

Two members to the Transport North East Committee (TNEC) –
Councillors C Marshall and K Shaw;

d)

Substitute member to the TNEC – Councillor J Allen;

e)

One member to the Governance Committee – Councillor E Bell;

f)

Substitute member to the Governance Committee – Councillor B
Kellett;

g)

Two members to be representatives on the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee – Councillors R Crute and A Patterson

h)

Substitute members on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee –
Councillor A Batey and M Clarke

i)

One member to the Economic Development and Regeneration
Advisory Board – Councillor C Marshall

j)

Substitute member to the Economic Development and Regeneration
Advisory Board – Councillor K Shaw

Appointments to the County Durham Housing Group
a)

Two members to the County Durham Housing Group Board –
Councillors D Boyes and K Shaw

b)

Three members to the County Durham Housing Group Operations
Committee – Councillors J Clark, B Kellett and T Tucker.

Page 11

13

Dates of Council meetings for 2018/19:
Resolved:
That the dates of meetings of the County Council for 2018/19 be as follows:
Wednesday 20 June 2018
Wednesday 18 July 2018
Wednesday 19 September 2018
Wednesday 31 October 2018
Wednesday 5 December 2018
Wednesday 23 January 2019
Wednesday 20 February 2019
Wednesday 27 March 2019
Wednesday 22 May 2019

Page 12

Agenda Item 8

20 June 2018
Report from the Cabinet

Purpose of the Report
To provide information to the Council on issues considered by the Cabinet on 11
April and 16 May 2018 to enable Members to ask related questions.
Contents
11 April 2018
Item 1

Annual Enforcement Programme Children and Young Persons
(Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 and Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003

Item 2

Developing a Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham

Item 3

Annual Review of the Constitution

Item 4

Guaranteed Interview Scheme for Veterans

16 May 2018
Item 5

Proposal to close the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn Primary School on
31 August 2018

Item 6

Review of Special Guardianship Policy and Procedure – Assessment,
Provision and Review of Support Services

Item 7

Public Health and Children and Young People’s Services Update: Best
Start in Life

Item 8

First World War Centenary Signature Commemorative Programme

Page 13

1.

Annual Enforcement Programme Children and Young Persons
(Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 and Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003
Cabinet Portfolio Holder– Councillor Brian Stephens
Contact – Joanne Waller 03000 260924

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
which reviewed enforcement activities under the Children and Young Persons
(Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991, the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 and the
Licensing Act 2003 for the period April 2017 to March 2018 and sought approval of a
new enforcement programme for 2018/19.
The County Council has a statutory duty to consider, at least once a year, the extent
to which the Authority should carry out a programme of enforcement under the
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 and the Anti-Social
Behaviour Act 2003. These acts deal with the enforcement of underage sales of
tobacco and aerosol paint containers respectively. The County Council has
statutory responsibility for enforcement of age restricted products, namely tobacco,
nicotine inhaling products, spray paint containers, alcohol, videos and DVDs,
cigarette lighter refills, fireworks and the proxy sale of tobacco products and sale of
nicotine inhaling products to under 18s.
The Authority has also elected to enforce the age-restricted sales of solvents and
glue, knives, access to gaming establishments and access to sunbed premises. A
review of activities during 2017/18 was included in the report at Appendix 2.
The report provided details of the enforcement programme for 2018/2019 which
includes the following activities:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

Page 14

An intelligence led approach to under age sales enforcement and tobacco.
This will continue to develop the intelligence from the “Keep it Out Campaign”
to deliver enforcement action where possible.
Working in partnership with the Police and other enforcement agencies to
identify and disrupt the involvement of organised criminality in the illicit
tobacco supply chain.
Investigation of all consumer and trader complaints.
Continuation of joint working with the Police Harm Reduction Unit and other
agencies to adopt a holistic approach to solving problems associated with the
accessibility and misuse of age related products.
The holding of events to raise public awareness of the harms associated with
illicit tobacco, to publicise the work of the service and encourage reporting of
this criminal activity.
Continuation of the ‘Do You Pass’ retailer training as a way of assisting
business.
Continuation of work in partnership with the police, HMRC and other agencies
to tackle sales from private premises to children, particularly in relation to
alcohol and tobacco.
Working with the County Durham Tobacco Alliance partners and providing
guidance to traders on the legal requirements surrounding E Cigarettes /
Vaping equipment and products and access of their customers to advice on
smoking cessation support.

(i)
(j)
(k)

Continuation with a practice of reviewing premises when appropriate.
Continuation of work to tackle health inequalities and antisocial behaviour
associated with the misuse and illegal supply of age-restricted products, in
particular alcohol and tobacco.
Delivering business advice on and carrying out enforcement of new legislation
for which the Council may be statutorily responsible, including all new
legislation which may emerge in relation to knife sales and corrosive
substances.

The Enforcement Programme for 2018/2019 will ensure that the Council continues to
address the problem of underage sales and access to age restricted products by
those under age as well as the wider health and criminal issues surrounding these
products.
Decision
We have noted the work undertaken during 2017/18 and supported the proposed
Enforcement Programme for 2018/19.
2.

Developing a Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham
Cabinet Portfolio Holder– Councillor Lucy Hovvels
Contact – Jane Robinson- 03000 267355

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
which provided an update on the current position on the integration of health and
social care services in County Durham, and outlined the proposed direction of travel
to develop a Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham which includes
integration of commissioning functions and governance for the management of the
integrated provider model of health and social care in local communities.
The integration of Health and Social Care Services has been a key policy driver for
many years within health and social care. The Five-Year Forward View and the Care
Act 2014 outlined the need to design and implement services around individuals and
their communities, to further enhance pathways and joint service provision across
health and social care. In February 2018, the NHS England (NHSE) 18/19 planning
guidance was clear in articulating the expectation that Integrated Care Systems
would need to develop to enhance the quality of health and social care. The report
reviewed the current state of integration plans and provided details of the options for
future commissioning models.
To assist in the development of a Health & Social Care Plan for County Durham
Price Waterhouse Coopers (PWC) were engaged, given their experience in working
on this agenda. PWC held workshops with key officers to share models and thinking
around options for the development of a joint strategic commissioning function for
County Durham. This included consideration of models adopted elsewhere in the
country. Based on this work, an agreement was reached in principle that exploring a
Joint Strategic Commissioning Function would make sense for County Durham. This
could potentially include the commissioning of community-based services for
children and adults across the County. Acute (hospital based) and other health care

Page 15

commissioning would sit outside of this model, being undertaken by CCGs at a
regional/sub-regional level. This was the preferred option because with a potential
integrated fund of this significant size, commissioners will be able to shape the
provider market in County Durham, whilst recognising that other health care and
acute commissioning will best serve the local population if it is undertaken by the
CCGs at scale. This can be across a number of CCGs or for other more specialist
areas at a North East level.
As a County, Durham has already developed various successful integrated
initiatives, which have required joint governance arrangements. For example, joint
teams have successfully governed integrated contracts for adult mental health and
learning disabilities, commissioning care under a cooperation agreement and S75.
In addition, there is a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) in place for the
Accountable Care Network (ACN), which seeks to align the efforts of all
organisations in Durham. A review will take place of the current MOU and a formal
partnership agreement will complement it. Agreement has been reached to have a
combined and Integrated Care Board (ICB), which will be responsible for driving
service development with partners to ensure there is system integration. The ICB
will be a key decision making authority for the new strategic model of care. As
membership will include leaders from all organisations in the system, the ICB will be
in a position to act as a forum where whole-system challenges can be addressed,
and solutions identified and initiated. In this way, the board will play a crucial role in
the success of the new model of care, enabling swift and decisive leadership across
multiple organisations, including both providers and commissioners.
As the new NHS Community Contract will commence in October 2018, it will be
necessary to have the new governance arrangements in place by the end of April
2018 to manage and oversee the mobilisation period in advance of October. A
number of other groups will meet to oversee elements of business relevant to whole
system delivery and these were illustrated in Appendix 2 of the report.
.
Within this Governance structure, each organisation would retain its own scheme of
delegation with the various strands of integrated services e.g. integrated direct
service delivery and integrated commissioning reporting to their respective Executive
Bodies. However, it is clear that there is ambition across the public sector to take
the model further and to devolve decision making to an overarching body that
operates on behalf of all partners. This would require separate governance
arrangements and a dedicated budget pooled from all partners for the various
elements of activity. Whilst this is not the model outlined in the report, it is the
aspiration of the partners to explore this option in more detail.
The next steps would include the establishment of a Task and Finish group,
reporting to the current Integration Board and Health and Well-Being Board. This
group would be responsible for the development of:
(a)

Page 16

A detailed plan to build and implement a joint strategic commissioning
function; from defining the vision, scope and structure through to the
development of a commissioning strategy, outcomes framework and financial
plan;

(b)
(c)

A Governance Plan, detailing how the system will be governed and what
bodies need to be adapted or created as part of that;
The inclusion of Children’s health and social care in the developing plans.

Decision
We have:
(a)
(b)
(c)

3.

Noted the content of the report and the work to date on Integration of Health
and Social Care Services;
Supported the intention to develop a Health and Social Care Plan for County
Durham through the development of a Joint Strategic Commissioning
Function and Integrated Governance arrangements;
Agreed to receive further reports on the Joint Strategic Commissioning
Function and Governance Plan
Annual Review of the Constitution
Leader of the Council - Councillor Simon Henig
Contact – Helen Lynch 03000 269732

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources which sought
approval for the proposed revisions to the Constitution prior to them being presented
to Council.
The Council's Constitution describes the four methods by which the council operates:
the Council, the Executive, Overview and Scrutiny, and the Committees. It also
provides framework within which each must operate by including:(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

the rules and procedures to be followed by the Council and committees when
conducting their business;
the decision making powers of the Council, Executive, Committees and
Officers;
the financial and contract regulations;
the rights of the public;
codes of conduct for councillors and employees;
members' allowances.

Decision
We have:
(a)
(b)

Approved the delegation of executive powers as set out in the proposed
amendments to the officer scheme of delegation as set out in the report.
Recommended that Council agree the proposed revisions to the Constitution
at its annual meeting on 23 May 2018.

Page 17

4.

Guaranteed Interview Scheme for Veterans
Cabinet Portfolio Holders– Councillors Lucy Hovvels, and Jane Brown
Contact – Suzanne Weston 03000 265448

We have considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources and the
Director of Transformation and Partnerships which requested Cabinet to consider the
introduction of a guaranteed interview scheme for veterans, together with a review of
the current advertising arrangements for external vacancies to promote better
access for veterans.
In June 2012 the Council and the County Durham Partnership signed the Armed
Forces Covenant. The Armed Forces Covenant is a nationally recognised initiative
and the introduction of a guaranteed interview scheme for veterans would further
demonstrate the Council’s commitment to the Covenant.
The veterans guaranteed interview scheme is a pledge by businesses to invite those
who have served in the armed forces to an interview where they meet the minimum
criteria for a job vacancy. It affords veterans the opportunity to demonstrate their
abilities beyond the initial application stage where appropriate. The introduction of a
guaranteed interview scheme for veterans would further improve the delivery of local
covenant pledges and contribute to Durham becoming a more veteran friendly
employer.
The scheme would apply criteria as detailed in the report which would create a
longer shortlist of candidates than might otherwise arise. No candidate would
therefore be displaced from a shortlist by the application of the scheme. The
scheme would not represent a guaranteed job for veterans and in all other respects
they would be subject to the Council’s Recruitment and Selection Policy and
Procedure. The application of the policy would still ensure that the best candidate
for the job was appointed based on objective criteria. The scheme would have no
bearing on redeployment, redundancy selection or internal restructures.
Decision
We have agreed:
(a)
(b)

5.

The introduction of a guaranteed interview scheme for veterans in order to
demonstrate commitment to becoming a more veteran friendly employer and to
support veterans’ transition to civilian life;
To a review of the Council’s existing advertising practices with the aim of
increasing the accessibility for veterans to the Council’s external job adverts.
Proposal to close the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn Primary School on
31 August 2018
Cabinet Portfolio Holder– Councillor Olwyn Gunn
Contact – Graeme Plews 03000 265 777

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young
People’s Services which sought approval to close the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn
Primary School on 31 August 2018, taking account of the Local Authority’s duties as

Page 18

prescribed in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 to secure sufficient places,
and to ensure good outcomes for all children and young people in this local area.
In December 2016, Cabinet approved its overarching strategy for school
organisation and the pattern and provision of schools across County Durham. In
November 2017, Cabinet also approved a strategic review of school provision in
County Durham to ensure the financial sustainability of schools.
Sherburn Primary School was formed on 1 September 2015 following the
amalgamation of Sherburn Village and Sherburn Hill Primary Schools. The primary
school runs across the sites of the two former schools. At the time of the
amalgamation, the Council and the Governors of Sherburn Primary School had
always hoped to maintain the two sites so that there could be education provision in
both communities. However, because pupil numbers are significantly lower than
expected – 166 instead of 225 – this model was not likely to be sustainable in the
long term and it was not in the best interests of pupils and staff at the school to be
split across two sites.
The statutory process involves an initial consultation period with relevant
stakeholders including parents, Governors, staff and the wider community. On 6
September 2017, using delegated powers, the Corporate Director, Children and
Young People’s Services approved the start of consultation on the proposal to close
the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn Primary School on 31 August 2018.
A public consultation was undertaken from 15 January 2018 to 23 February 2018.
This proposal generated a lot of interest within the local community of Sherburn Hill
and neighbouring communities. Details of the consultation were included in the
report.
A campaign initiated by the Sherburn Hill Community Action Group and meetings
held with the MP for the City of Durham initiated a lot of response. Although there
was a large response to the consultation, none of the responses presented a model
of education that the council believes would be viable and sustainable for the
communities of Sherburn Hill and Sherburn Village for the long term.
After full consideration of all of the responses to the consultation the Corporate
Director, Children and Young People’s Services on 3 March 2018 used delegated
powers to agree to publish proposals to close the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn
Primary School on 31 August 2018.
A statutory notice was therefore published on 8 March 2018. There followed a
statutory 4 week representation period during which comments on the proposal
could be made.
The responses, including one from the City of Durham MP, were not in support of the
proposal to close the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn Primary School. The
respondents were concerned that the closure of the Sherburn Hill site would remove
the last community facility from the village. Concerns were also expressed about
how children from Sherburn Hill would be able to get to and from the Sherburn
Village site.

Page 19

Officers believe that educationally the proposal to close the Sherburn Hill site of
Sherburn Primary School is in the best interests of pupils and their families.
Running the school across two separate sites is becoming unviable from both an
educational and financial perspective. The reduction in pupil numbers from the
predicted 225 to 166 and changes to school funding has put significant pressure on
the school budget. This has already resulted in the school having to reduce staff
from March 2017. Having all pupils on one site presents wider opportunities to
organise classes making maximum use of the staff resources available for the
benefit of all pupils. The proposal to close the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn Primary
School will help to enhance educational improvement.
Decision
We have:
(a)

agreed that the Sherburn Hill site of Sherburn Primary School is closed on 31
August 2018.

(b)

agreed to approve the capital investment of £1.1 million from capital
contingencies.

6.

Review of Special Guardianship Policy and Procedure – Assessment,
Provision and Review of Support Services
Cabinet Portfolio Holder– Councillor Olwyn Gunn
Contact – Glenda Henderson 03000 265726

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young
People’s Services, which further to the review of the Special Guardianship Policy
and Procedures during 2017, sought to provide an overview of the proposed
changes and the actions undertaken to ensure the assessed needs of
children/young people subject to a Special Guardianship Order are met and there is
compliance with the Special Guardianship Regulations 2005. In addition, the report
also highlighted the importance of providing a consistent and timely method of
reviewing support and ensuring Special Guardians and children/young people,
subject to a Special Guardianship Order, have the appropriate access to a wide
range of services and support.
In the White Paper, ‘adoption: a new approach’ issued in December 2000, the
Government committed to creating a new private law order called Special
Guardianship that would provide legal permanence short of adoption. The White
Paper stated that Special Guardianship Order would be accompanied by proper
access to a full range of support services including, where appropriate, financial
support. This clearly recognised that financial support would not be provided to all
Special Guardians.
The total number of children/young people subject to a Special Guardianship Order
and receiving financial support has increased year on year and this increase also
represents the findings from the Ministry of Justice (2015) who revealed a national
increase of 81% in the total number of Special Guardianship Orders made since
2011.

Page 20

A recent audit of Transitional Financial Support for Special Guardianship Orders
(SGO) carried out by the Quality Improvement Team identified a ‘limited’ level of
assurance about practitioners’ compliance with the SGO procedure and review
process. This highlighted the lack of a consistent approach across teams to review
support, provide a timely and effective method of communication with Special
Guardians and make full use of the appropriate documents within the policy for
recording purposes.
The revised Policy which was attached to the report at Appendix 2 is similar to the
style/layout adopted by a number of other local authorities and seeks a consistent
approach in providing both practitioners and service users with an open and
transparent policy. It sets out a structure with clear guidance, which is compliant
with Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 and links to associated documents and
policies to be used throughout the Special Guardianship process. The provision of a
separate ‘Support Services’ Policy (attached to the report at Appendix 3) provides
further clarity of support available. This support does not necessarily mean financial
support and includes mediation services, therapeutic services, respite provision,
counselling and advice, etc.
The main change set out in this Policy is the frequency of payment of transitional
financial support. At present payments are normally paid in regular weekly
payments. In accordance with Regulation 8, for new service users, periodic
payments will only be provided to meet a need, which gives rise to recurring
expenditure, otherwise financial support will be paid as a ‘single’ payment or, in
agreement with the Special Guardians via instalments. It is envisaged that this will
reduce the dependency on a weekly allowance and provide Special Guardians with
the opportunity to purchase costly items, which support the child/young person’s
transition into the family home.
It is also proposed that where Special Guardians have received periodic financial
support which is time limited or to be used for a specific purpose in accordance with
Regulation 10 (2) and they make representations against the ceasing of this support,
consideration should be given to a ‘zero-based’ assessment (the Special Guardians
will still need to provide evidence of financial circumstances) to meet an assessed
need. Regulation 6(d) allows the local authority to contribute to the expenditure
necessary for the purpose of accommodating and maintaining the child, including the
provision of furniture and domestic equipment, alterations/adaptations to the home,
provision of means of transport and provision of clothing, toys and other items
necessary for the purpose of looking after a child. This support can be offered at any
time, it is not restricted to where the Special Guardians has made representations
about the decision to cease paying financial support.
The new approach will reduce the amount of financial support being paid weekly and
the reliance on weekly payments, providing a more targeted approach to financial
support, which meets the assessed needs of children/young person.
The report proposed that views of the key stakeholders and the wider public be
sought, through consultation on the proposed adoption of the revised Special
Guardianship Policy and Support Services Policy and Procedure. Following Cabinet

Page 21

approval of the draft policies and procedures, it is proposed that a 6 week
consultation will begin immediately thereafter. Cabinet is asked to delegate authority
to the Corporate Director Children & Young People’s Services in consultation with
the Cabinet Member for Children & Young People’s Services to consider the
outcome to the consultation, make any consequent changes to and implement
proposals. Any policy changes would be implemented from mid/end July 2018.
Decision
We have agreed:
(a)

That a 6 week consultation be undertaken on:
(i)

Adopting new Special Guardianship Policy & Procedures which are
open and transparent and seek to provide a consistent approach for
practitioners in adhering to Special Guardianship Regulations (2005)
and access to a vast range of support and services;

(ii)

Proposal to change frequency of payment of transitional financial
support (still based on age-related fostering allowance and payable up
to two years) for ‘new’ service users, who do not require ongoing
financial support and provide ‘one-off’ payments or via instalments,
reducing the dependency on weekly financial payments. In addition to
provide the flexibility to access ‘one-off’ payments (not based on agerelated fostering allowance) to meet an assessed need (Reg 6(d).

(b)

To delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Children and Young
People’s Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People’s Services to consider the outcome to the consultation, make
any consequent changes to and implement the proposals.

7.

Public Health and Children and Young People’s Services Update: Best
Start in Life
Cabinet Portfolio Holders– Councillors Olwyn Gunn, and Lucy Hovvels
Contact – Phil Hodgson 03000 268658

We have considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young
People’s Services, and the Director of Public Health. The joint report provided an
update on national and local developments with regard to giving every child the best
start in life.
Ensuring every child has the best start in life is one of Public Health England’s 7 key
priorities. Getting a good start in life and throughout childhood, building resilience
and getting maximum benefit from education are important markers for good health
and wellbeing throughout life. At a regional level, provides and commissioners are
now operating as local maternity systems (LMS) with the aim of ensuring that
women, babies and families are able to access the services they need and choose.

Page 22

The North East have agreed seven public health priorities for during the antenatal
period which will impact on health outcomes for both mother and baby as part of the
best start in life.
(a)

Reducing smoking in pregnancy.

(b)

Increase vaccination uptake in pregnancy (flu and whooping cough).

(c)

Improve perinatal mental health (MH during pregnancy and first year of baby’s
life).

(d)

Reduce alcohol consumption in pregnancy.

(e)

Increase breastfeeding initiation rates and rates of ongoing breastfeeding at 68 weeks.

(f)

Promoting healthy weight and supporting women who are obese preconceptually, antenatally and postnatally. This would include promoting a
healthy pre-pregnant weight as well as ensuring full implementation of
national guidance for women with a BMI of 30 or more at booking and a
postnatal referral for structured weight management support referral in those
women who have a BMI 30 or above at the 6 – 8 week check.

(g)

Increase making every contact count.

At a County Durham level these seven prevention must do’s are being incorporated
into the work of the Best Start in Life (BSIL) delivery group which is a sub group of
the Children and Families Partnership. A self-assessment process has been
undertaken in County Durham through the BSIL multi-agency delivery group. This
process generated rich intelligence at a local level on how County Durham is
performing on BSIL as a system. To understand County Durham’s position against
the set LMS / BSIL priorities the report provided a highlight of the main indicators
and high level actions which have been progressed.
The next steps for Best Start in Life is to embed the work into the newly formed
children’s integration steering group and the priorities will feature in any future
children’s strategy.
Decision
We have agreed to:
a)
b)

note the content of the report
receive further updates in relation to Children and Young People’s Services
on a quarterly basis

Page 23

8.

First World War Centenary Signature Commemorative Programme
Cabinet Portfolio Holder– Councillor Ossie Johnson
Contact – Anne Davison 03000 268129

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local
Services which outlined the proposed programme of events and activities taking
place across the County in commemoration of the end point in the First World War.
The report highlighted a range of activities organised by both the Council and other
partners as well as proposing some additional activities which the Council may wish
to commit to.
The report focused upon outlining existing plans and proposing additional signature
funding to enhance existing plans to commemorate the centenary of the day the
guns fell silent.
Initiatives that are already planned for the 2018 commemorative year include
national events with a local focus, events taking place in County Durham being
organised and delivered by others, and events to be delivered by the County
Council. There is also an opportunity to deliver specially created events and
initiatives in addition to those listed above. Together, they combine to mark the end
of the centenary period in a creative and imaginative way. The Commemorative
Light art installation builds on the success of Lumiere over the past decade. Linking
to the new Place of Light branding, the commissioned light art/projection piece is
proposed to be created and then installed in Millennium Place. This piece could
involve both sound and light to establish a piece resonant to the end of the war,
togetherness and homecoming at peace.
The aim will be to animate Millennium Place with a commemorative work influenced
by the names of the DLI fallen and/or other suitable imagery. The exact nature of
the installation will be shaped by the artist commissioned to deliver the project, using
the archive of the DLI as inspiration and focus. To commission and create this work
will be approximately £30,000. This includes the first venue set up and running costs
only. It is envisaged that the installation will be in place for approximately two weeks
although this will depend on the nature of the final work.
The reprise of the Durham Hymns was first performed at Durham Cathedral in 2016.
The Durham Hymns was commissioned by the Northern Regional Brass Band Trust
in partnership with Durham County Council. A century on from the Battle of the
Somme, this new suite of hymns commemorated sacrifice, courage and endurance.
Created for brass band and choir, with lyrics by Poet Laureate, Carol Ann Duffy, the
work was inspired by the true-life experiences of County Durham people researched
through the County Archive and DLI collections.
The second signature scheme being proposed is a reprise of the Durham Hymns
which has proven to be highly popular with community groups and residents. Since
its world premiere in 2016, the Durham Hymns have been “on tour” in communities
across the region. It is proposed to stage a reprise at The Gala Theatre in
November 2018. This would cost in the region of £12,500. There would be 2
performances on Sunday 11 November, days providing the opportunity for over 1000

Page 24

people to experience this visual and musical tribute. The total cost of the additional
signature events proposed is an estimated £42,000.
In summary, the proposed signature events programme provides opportunities
through visual arts and musical engagement to commemorate the heroic actions of
local men, women and families, and create a lasting legacy for the County. The
programme engages our local heritage partners within the county and ensures a
county-wide approach is adopted to this historically significant period.
Decision
We have:
(a)

Noted the existing programme of events

(b)

That the additional Signature Event proposals set-out within the report are
supported namely:
(i)
(ii)

(c)

A WW1 themed light art installation;
Durham Hymns performances

A contribution of £42,500 to fund the commissioning of the light art and hymns
programme be funded from 2018/19 General Contingencies.

Councillor S Henig
Leader of the County Council
12 June 2018

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

County Council
20 June 2018
Appointment of a Director of Integrated
Community Services
Report of Corporate Management Team
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio for Adult and Health
Services
Purpose of the Report
1

To briefly outline for Council the background to developing a Health and
Social Care plan for County Durham.

2

To provide Council with information in respect of the associated governance
arrangements, specific to the proposed joint appointment with the NHS of a
Director of Integrated Community Services, pending Council agreeing the
creation of the post in line with the Council’s pay policy.

Background
3

A report was presented to Cabinet on 11 April 2018 in relation to developing a
Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham. This was a joint report
between Durham County Council and Durham Dales, Easington and
Sedgefield (DDES) and North Durham (ND) Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs) and as such was also presented through the CCG Governance
arrangements and endorsed at the Joint CCG Governing Bodies meeting on
the 15 May 2018.

4

Integration has been a key policy driver for many years within health and
social care. Most recently, the Five-Year Forward View and the Care Act 2014
outlined the need to design and implement services around individuals and
their communities, to further enhance pathways and joint service provision
across health and social care.

5

In February 2018, the NHS England (NHSE) 18/19 planning guidance was
clear in articulating the expectation that Integrated Care Systems would need
to develop to enhance the quality of health and social care.

Page 27

6

There is a strong track record of integrated working in County Durham, based
on effective partnerships, most recently evidenced through the introduction of
Teams Around the Patients model (TAPs) across the county, this
acknowledges that more care should be delivered in a community setting
through better integration of provision.

7

The next phase of the Health and Care Plan for County Durham is to develop
a Joint Strategic Commissioning Function and to implement new integrated
governance arrangements.

Current Management Arrangements
8

To underpin and further develop the integration of services across the health
and social care system in County Durham, the temporary post of Director of
Integration was established in January 2017 for a two-year period. This role
has been instrumental in developing a Memorandum of Understanding for the
County Durham Accountable Care Network and implementing the TAP’s
model.

9

Following a recruitment process led by the CCGs, the Head of Adult Care for
the Council was seconded to this position in January 2017. Whilst she
remains an employee of Durham County Council in terms of existing terms
and conditions of employment, her salary is paid from the Better Care Fund
(BCF), which is held by the Council on behalf of the Integration Board.

Proposed arrangements
10

A new specification has been developed for the recently commissioned NHS
Community Services contract, which places integration at its centre. This will
require NHS community services to be managed alongside Adult Social Care
services. Agreement has been reached to have an integrated management
board with direct service delivery of NHS Community and Adult Social Care
services being overseen by a Director of Integrated Community Services on
behalf of all partners.

11

The Director of Integrated Community Services will replace the Director of
Integration role therefore meaning the establishment of this new role would be
cost neutral. The post will be employed on behalf of the whole system, to lead
and manage NHS and Adult Social Care direct service delivery and will be
jointly funded through the Better Care Fund.

12

Working on behalf of all organisations in County Durham, the Director of
Integrated Community Services will ensure that service provision and
development is truly integrated. The post holder will be accountable for the
delivery of strategic, operational and financial performance of the County
Durham Integrated Community Services.

13

The budget for integrated community based services is being scoped as part
of the work to develop a Joint Strategic Commissioning function; in total, this
is likely to be in excess of £650 million.

Page 28

14

The wider benefits of an integrated approach include:


Faster improvements in care with improved outcomes for local people
through an agreed performance system;



Collective resources being used more efficiently to maximise the impact
of the Durham pound to benefit our communities;



Improved focus on joined up solutions;

 Maximising the skills available across the wider health + social care
workforce;
 Improved health outcomes across whole populations;
 An improved approach to prevention resulting in the management of
avoidable demand and reduction in unwarranted variations in health
and/or care;
 Less duplication and fragmentation across the system providing an
easier system to navigate for patients, service users and staff.
15

An integrated senior management team with senior officers responsible for
community and adult social care services will report to the Director of
Integrated Community Services. The Director in turn will report to respective
organisational governance arrangements to ensure that service delivery is in
line with relevant regulatory standards. Staff working within the system will
however retain their current employment arrangements with their existing
employers.

16

Within this governance structure, each organisation will retain its own scheme
of delegation, accountability and decision-making. The Director of Adult and
Health Services will retain the statutory role of the Director of Adult Social
Services.

Director of Integrated Community Services
17

The Job Description and Person Specification for this post are attached in
Appendix 2.

18

HR has moderated the remuneration level for this post at £130,000 and this
reflects the current salary arrangements. The post will be funded by the Better
Care Fund, which is pooled health and social care funds held by the Council
to support integration. Therefore this will be cost neutral to the existing
arrangements.

19

In line with the Council’s Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 the creation of any
new posts paying over £100,000 are required to be presented to Council for
approval.

Page 29

20

Whilst the Council is the employer, the management of this post is a
collaborative arrangement and the appointed officer will be responsible to the
Corporate Director, Adult and Health Services, the Chief Executive and
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and the Chief
Operating Officer for the North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group.

21

Pending Council agreement to the creation of the post, the post will be
advertised and the Corporate Director for Adult and Health Services will be the
lead officer for the appointment panel in line with the Council’s Recruitment
and Selection Policy and Procedure.

Recommendations and reasons
22

Council is asked to:
(a)

Approve the creation of the post of Director of Integrated Community
Services;

(b)

Agree that recruitment arrangements can progress to ensure that there
are effective governance arrangements in place with regards to the
continuing integration of Health and Social Care Services.

Contact:

Page 30

Jane Robinson

Tel:

03000 267355

Appendix 1: Implications
Finance – The costs associated with the recruitment to this post will be covered
through the use of the Better Care Fund and do not exceed the current costs of existing
arrangements.
Staffing – Advice of HR has been sought through the development of this role and will
continue during the recruitment process, which will follow relevant policies and
procedures.
Risk – Failure to establish and appoint to this post would have significant implications
for the wider health and social care system and the aspirations of all partners to deliver
integrated health and social care for local residents.
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Recruitment would be done
in line with relevant policies.
Accommodation – N/A
Crime and Disorder – N/A
Human Rights – N/A
Consultation – N/A
Procurement – N/A
Disability Issues – N/A
Legal Implications – The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to approve a Pay
Policy Statement which can be amended by Council during the financial year. In
accordance with the statutory guidance issued, the Council’s statement requires
Council approval prior to the creation of a new post attracting a salary in excess of
£100,000.

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

JOB DESCRIPTION
Job Title:

Director of Integrated Community Services

Directorate

County Durham Integrated Community Services

Collaborative
Reporting
Arrangements:

Durham County Council, County Durham and Darlington
Foundation Trust, Tees, Esk and Wear Valley Mental
Health Trust, Primary Care Leads, North Durham and
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical
Commissioning Groups.

Reports to:

Corporate Director, Adults and Health Services, Durham
County Council (DCC), Chief Operating Officer, North
Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGS) and the Chief
Executive, County Durham and Darlington NHS
Foundation Trust (CDDFT)

Direct Reports:

Head of Adult Social Care (DCC); Associate Director
for Integrated Adults (CDDFT) and Strategic Manager –
Care Act/Integration.

Job Purpose:

The main purpose of this post is to provide effective and
visionary leadership; utilising respective partner
organisation’s governance processes to drive effective
integration between health and social care through
collaboration with stakeholders and partners across the
system to deliver better outcomes.
Relationship management across the whole system will
be a key component of the role.

Date:

June 2018

Page 33

Appendix 2
Responsibilities:
The Director of Integrated Community Services is responsible for optimising
the strategic, operational and financial management of the Community
Integrated Service across County Durham, which is governed by the
Integrated Care Partnership and respective organisation’s governing
bodies.
The Director of Integrated Community Services will work across the
community NHS and social care landscape and will provide infrastructure,
systems, tools and leadership to drive meaningful change and integration of
services, employing best practices in measurement and performance
improvement.
The post holder will be part of the Chief Officer Leadership Team and will
be responsible for the design and refinement of the strategic plans and
goals relating to integration.
The role includes responsibility for assisting NHS and Local Authority
Commissioners to improve market shaping so addressing: delayed
transfers of care, admission avoidance, timely discharge and community
based solutions that promote independence and reduce the risk of social
isolation.
The post holder will ensure that the approach is collaborative and
partnership based and is effectively coordinated with other improvement
programmes in the NHS and Local Authority
Integrated Service Outcomes:
 Reduction in avoidable A&E hospital attendances and admissions
 Reduction in planned hospital and residential/nursing admissions
 Enhanced opportunities for reablement and rehabilitation
 Streamlined functions and increased productivity and capacity
 Better co-ordination of care and improved customer experience
 Improved support for carers
 Increased choice and personalisation
Key Tasks:
 Overarching integration of the operational management of Durham
County Council’s Adult Social Care Service and the Community
Health Service provider function.

Page 34



Supervision of the Strategic Manager – Care/Act Integration and
matrix management (in terms of the areas relevant to County
Durham) within the roles of Head of Adult Care and the County
Durham element of the Associate Director of Community Services.



Collaboration with Chief Officers, medical directors, programme
directors, managers, supervisors and senior leadership to identify
key measures in cost, quality and access, specific to those which
support integration across services and programmes.

Appendix 2



Contribute to the development and implementation of local/regional
Integrated Care Systems.
Ensure programme leadership has adequate tools to obtain and
measure progress towards goals, utilising QI methodology, visual
management tools, process mapping and standard work.



Contribute to establishing a high performance culture both within
CCGs, CDDFT and Local Authority Adult and Health Directorates
that is flexible, innovative and responsive to changing priorities and
empowers people to deliver excellence, best value and continuous
improvement for the people of County Durham. Whilst ensuring that
respective organisational performance monitoring is timely and
effective.



To provide excellent executive leadership ensuring effective system
integration in operations, planning, programme development, human
resources and staff development, business development and fiscal
oversight and compliance with all necessary regulatory requirements.



To provide effective system leadership and relationship
management, building trust and developing shared priorities with
partners and stakeholders including openly tackling areas of conflict
and creating collaborative mutually workable solutions to ensure the
delivery of user-focussed, integrated locality-based services for
vulnerable adults and their families.



Management and facilitation of appropriate partnerships, boards and
individual stakeholder relationships across the system in order to
influence increased integration and collaborative working.



To provide an integrated leadership approach through the
development of strong working relationships with the DASS and
relevant Chief Officers and their executive teams across the NHS,
which challenges silo working and ensures the delivery of a joined-up
and effective prevention, demand management pathways and
associated integration strategies across County Durham. These
strategies will be delivered through ensuring the provision of
integrated and targeted specialist services in collaboration with
public, voluntary and private sector partners to support health,
education and social care needs during childhood, the transition and
beyond.



Delivery of collaborative, integrated, outcome-based service planning
that takes account of national performance standards as well as
statutory and local performance plans.



Delivery of effective communication strategies for sharing the vision
and plans with staff, partners and the public to ensure there is clear
understanding of the impacts and outcomes.

Page 35

Appendix 2


Accountability for the delivery of strategic, operational and financial
performance of the system-wide County Durham integrated
community services as well as having shared accountability with the
executive bodies of partner organisations.
Responsibilities:




Ensuring the delivery of the vision of the Integrated Care Partnership
Overseeing operational delivery of an Integrated Community Service,
specifically reflecting the requirements of the Integrated care
Partnership
Build upon relationships across the Integrated care Partnership to
ensure and enhanced level of Integration is achieved

Person Specification
Job Title:

Director of Integrated Community Services

Qualifications



Degree level or equivalent standard of general education.
Relevant professional qualification.

Personal Attributes


Commitment to the achievement of value for money, service
excellence and equality in employment and service delivery.



Commitment to community involvement and participation in the
development and delivery of strategies and services.



Effective, proven track record of managing relationships across
organisations with the ability to deploy effective strategies to
enhance the community service offer.

Experience

Page 36



Demonstrable evidence of high performance and achievement at a
senior level within a Local Authority, health system and large, multifunctional organisation with comparable scope, size and complexity.



Demonstrable evidence of having successfully led and delivered
complex service redesign/improvements i.e. integrated care delivery
between health and social care, driving associated cultural change to
embed improvements.



A track record of policy and strategy formulation, coupled with
translation of these strategies to tangible action and success on the
ground.

Appendix 2


A record of successful resource management, budget formulation,
monitoring and control of the performance of human, financial and
physical resources in a complex, political organisation.



Evidence of successful multi-partner and commercial commissioning
negotiations, which have had a positive impact on communities and
other stakeholders.



Evidence of providing sound professional advice to elected Members
and building effective and productive political working relationships
that enhance the delivery of the service.



Demonstrable evidence of effective engagement with a range of
partners and stakeholders, including media across all sectors and
ongoing development of relationships that foster personal and
organisational credibility.

Knowledge and Skills


In-depth knowledge and understanding of the major issues facing the
public sector and the specific challenges facing adult and community
services within local government and the NHS.



Ability to demonstrate passion for collaborative working while setting
the tone for service delivery with an emphasis on responsibility,
accountability, relationships with community representatives,
professional growth for staff and growth for the people that the
service supports.



Knowledge of both, NHS and Local Government governance
processes, including the role and function of scrutiny arrangements.



Evidence of harnessing the strengths and talents of people at all
levels across a multi-disciplinary partnership, in order to support
them to realise their full potential and achieve common goals.



Evidence of having the self-confidence and perspective to facilitate
open and honest relationships with the leadership team, staff and the
wider public community in order to discuss and remove barriers to
the effective delivery of services.



Evidence of demonstrating resilience under pressure.



The ability to manage relationships across a complex organisational
infrastructure to build upon and enhance the vision of the Integrated
care Partnership.

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

